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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR DISTRICT OF ALASKA

NEWTOK VILLAGE, and 
NEWTOK VILLAGE COUNCIL
            -   Petitioners, 
vs. 

ANDY T. PATRICK, JOSEPH 
TOMMY, and STANLEY TOM,
              - Defendants. 

  
 Case No.: 4:15-CV-00009-RRB 

TRIBE'S OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO

SET ASIDE DEFAULT
JUDGMENT 

COMES NOW, Plaintiff, Newtok Village (Tribe), to oppose the Defendants' 

motion to set aside default judgment.   The Defendants argue that their motion to 

vacate a five year old judgement is timely and that it was void because this Court 

never had jurisdiction over the subject matter of the dispute arguing  that the 

Tribe's claims fail to raise a federal question.    The arguments have no merit 

because all the Tribe's claims present federal questions:  i.e. enforcement of a Tribal 

judgement (per Coeur d'Alene Tribe v. Hawks, infra.); the Indian Self-Determination 

Act,  and 2 CFR Part 200. Moreover, the Defendants motion- taken five years after 

entry of the judgement – is clearly untimely.  This Court should deny the 

Defendants motion. 
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I. BACKGROUND. 

Defendants' recitation of the factual and procedural background of this case 

omits certain critical facts.  i.e. that the lawsuit was largely about implementation of

a Tribal judgement, and various federal laws, which all raise questions regarding 

federal law. 

As the complaint1 alleges, the original disputed election(s) occurred in 2012 –

over eight years ago – and was triggered when the Defendants submitted a request 

to contract with the Bureau of Indian Affairs to funding due Newtok Village 

pursuant to the Indian Self-Determination Act, (P.L. 93-638, as amended; 25 USC § 

5391 et. seq. )2   Under the Act, a Tribe is able to contract for programs operated by 

the BIA for the benefit of Indians.3  The contracting process is initiated by a 

resolution of the Tribe's governing body.4  The “New Council” (led by Mr. Paul 

Charles) objected to the Defendants attempts to exercise these tribal rights claiming 

the the New Council was the legitimate tribal governing body and that the 

Defendants were not.  

On June 14, 2013, the Old Council held a community meeting, submitting the

dispute to the tribal membership.  At the meeting, the Defendant Stanley Tom 

proposed that the tribal leadership dispute  be submitted to the tribal membership 

1 Docket 1, at para 14-22  Unless otherwise indicated, the following facts were alleged in the Complaint. 
2 See Ex. 1
3 25 USC § 5321(a)(1) 
4 Id.  See 25 CFR § 900.8 (d) 
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to resolve, and the tribal membership confirmed the election of the “New Council” 

(aka the Charles Council) to be the legitimate governing body of the Tribe. On July 

11, 2013, the Juneau Area Director for the BIA recognized the “New Council” as the 

legitimate governing body of Newtok Village with the authority to act as the 

governing body of the Tribe, including contracting with the BIA on behalf of the 

Tribe.5  

On August 8, 2013, the Defendants filed an appeal with the Interior Board of 

Indian Appeals (IBIA), (Docket No. IBIA 13-134) which had the effect of staying 

implementation of the Area Director's July 11, 2013 decision.6 On May 27, 2014, the 

Interior Board of Indian Appeals issued an Order Granting Motion to Lift Stay, 

which had the effect of making the Area Director's July 11, 2013 decision fully 

effective, and denied the Defendant's request to contract on behalf of the Tribe.7   

The Tribe's complaint in this matter alleges that the Defendants continued to 

assert that they were the properly elected tribal government for Newtok Village.  

This lawsuit sought to give full force and effect to the Tribe's dispute resolution 

process and the Area Director's and IBIA decision.  In a practical goal of the lawsuit 

was to stop the Defendants from attempting to defraud Federal, state and other 

agencies out of money intended for the Tribe, and to prevent the continued 

disruption of tribal contracting rights under the Indian Self-Determination Act and 

5 See Ex. 1
6 See Ex. 2
7 See Ex. 3
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related federal and state statutes, and to recover property and records necessary for 

audit compliance with federal laws and regulations. 8 

The Tribe never asked this Court to resolve a tribal election dispute. Rather, 

as explained in its complaint, the Tribe used tribal processes (proposed by 

Defendant Stanley Tom) to resolve the election dispute.  The BIA Area Director 

merely recognized the results of the tribal election dispute resolution process.  

Defendants appealed the Area Director's recognition of the tribal judgment to the 

IBIA, and attempted to circumvent the tribal judgment in other ways. 

II. THE MOTION IS UNTIMELY. 

a) Rule 60 Must Be Timely. Defendants are incorrect when they assert that 

there are no time limits on a motion to set aside a default judgment, and the cited 

case law does not support that position.9 The motion invokes  FRCP 55(c) and 60(b)

(4).10   Rule 60 clearly states that the movants' motion must be filed within a 

8  Additionally, the complaint alleges that the Defendants have repeatedly made representations to various 
federal, state and private agencies seeking money  due the Tribe and misrepresenting that they are the 
legitimate governing body of Newtok Village and that the Defendants have retained records equipment and 
other property belonging to Newtok Village and refused to return this property.  Docket 1 at para 24-27

9 Docket 65, at p. 4  It should be noted that Meadows v. Dominican Republic, 817 F.2d 517, 521 (9th Cir. 
1987) (cited by defendants since it said stated “There is no time limit on a Rule 60(b)(4) motion to set aside
a judgment as void”) is simply dicta, since that case did not concern a Rule 60(b)(4) motion.  The dicta in   
Meadows  cites to Bookout v Beck, 354 F.2d 823, 825 (9th Cir., 1965), however the Court in that decision 
expressly did not rule as to whether a motion to set aside a judgment filed over one year after the default 
judgement is entered can be considered untimely. 

10 Docket 65, at p. 1
FRCP 55(c) provides  “The court may set aside an entry of default for good cause, and it may set aside a 
final default judgment under Rule 60(b).”  The grounds for such a motion are set out in FRCP 60(b) 
provides “On motion and just terms, the court may relieve a party or its legal representative from a final 
judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable 
neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence that, with reasonable diligence, could not have been discovered in 
time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether previously called intrinsic or extrinsic), 
misrepresentation, or misconduct by an opposing party;(4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been 
satisfied, released, or discharged; it is based on an earlier judgment that has been reversed or vacated; or 
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reasonable time. Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(c)(1).11    Defendants ignore this requirement and

have not addressed this requirement.

The Ninth Circuit has held that determining whether a motion to obtain 

relief under  Rule 60 is filed within a reasonable time requires a case by case 

analysis. In re Williams, 287  B.R. 787, 793 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2002) (citing Ashford v. 

Steuart, 657 F.2d 1053, 1055 (9th Cir. 1981)). In making the determination, the court 

should take “into consideration the interest in finality, the reason for delay, the 

practical ability of the litigant to learn earlier of the grounds relied upon, and 

prejudice to other parties.” Ashford, 657 F.2d at 1055. Relief under Rule 60 is 

reserved for ‘extraordinary circumstances[,]’ ” id.  After the moving party’s 

opportunity to appeal has passed, the interest in finality must be given “great 

weight.” Id.  Rule 60 relief  “is to be utilized only where extraordinary 

circumstances prevented a party from taking timely action to prevent or correct an 

erroneous judgment[,]” Greenawalt v. Stewart, 105 F.3d 1268, 1273 (9th Cir. 1997). 

 

 b) Defendant's Motion is Futile/Moot.  The untimeliness of this motion has 

rendered any retroactive and prospective relief the Defendants might seek as futile 

and mooted the possibility of relief in vacating the judgement.  As acknowledged in

applying it prospectively is no longer equitable; or (6) any other reason that justifies relief.
11 FRCP 60(c) requires that motions seeking relief under Rule 60(b) (1), (2), and (3) must be filed within one 

year of entry of the judgment.  The requirement that the Rule 60 motion be filed within one year of entry of
judgment is jurisdictional and failure to file within the time specified deprives the court of jurisdiction to 
consider the motion. Nevitt v. United States, 886 F.2d 1187, 1188 (9th Cir. 1989). The current motion is 
filed under Rule 60(b)(4). As a consequence the one-year time limit does not apply, but is still subject to 
the generally applicable requirement that the motion must be timely. 
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Defendant's motion, the original election dispute occurred in 2012 annual election – 

i.e. over eight (8) years ago.12  Equally, the Defendant's admit that under the Tribe's 

Constitution in effect at the time, terms of office were limited to two (2) or three (3) 

years,13 which has not changed.   The terms of office for all persons elected in the 

2012 election – from both councils – expired in October, 2015: i.e. over five years ago

and before this Court entered its judgment.  Thus, it is impossible for the Old 

Council to be the legitimate governing body of the Tribe without being re-elected or

appointed. The Defendants therefore have no legally cognizable right to claim that 

they are Newtok Tribal officials absent election in a post 2015 election.   Defendant 

do not claim such election. Vacating the judgement will not change the fact that 

none of the Defendants have a legal right to claim that they are Tribal officials. 

All funds due the Tribe since 2015 (and going forward) are under the control 

of the Tribe and the duly constituted Tribal government, including BIA/IHS Indian 

Self-Determination Act, HUD Denali Commission, etc. Vacating the judgment will 

not alter this going forward. 

Equally, the Defendants have partially complied with this Court's Judgment 

respecting the records by providing the Tribal records to the Tribe's auditors 

necessary to conduct the Tribe's 2011 single audit, which has been completed.  

12 Docket 65, at p. 3
13 Id. 
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Equally, the Tribe has received sufficient records to comply with post-2011 audit 

requirements.  Thus, the Defendant's judgment obligations respecting the tribal 

records has been fully satisfied, and vacating the judgment would have no effect.

This Court's Judgment respecting Tribal funds has been fully satisfied as all 

known bank funds and residual accounts14 have been transferred to the control of 

Newtok Village.  Thus, the Defendant's judgment obligations respecting the tribal 

funds has been fully satisfied, and vacating the judgment would have no effect.

The Defendant's have partially complied with this Court's Judgement 

respecting retained Tribal property in that the tribal bingo operation (i.e. licenses 

and facility) has been transferred from the Defendants to the Tribe.  The passage of 

time has also resolved other property matters.  For example, the Tribe has 

abandoned the former Tribal office building, which Defendants continued to 

occupy.  The building is endangered by permafrost degradation and has been 

replaced with a temporary facility in Newtok.  Additionally,  the Tribal office will 

be permanently replaced with a planned new permanent facility in Mertravik.  

Thus, the Defendant's judgment obligations respecting the tribal property has been 

effectively satisfied, and vacating the judgment would have no effect.

14 “Residual accounts” are funds attributable to Newtok Village on account with other entities: i.e.  the 
Association of Village Council Presidents, AVCP Housing, Yukon-Kuskokwim Health Corporation, etc. 
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Finally, the Defendant's seek recovery of attorney fee's awarded by the Court

to the Tribe.  Such a recovery would require the entry of an Judgment against the 

Tribe and in favor of the Defendants.  The Tribe, however, is immune from such an 

Judgments because a tribe's participation in litigation does not constitute  a waiver 

of sovereign immunity. Oklahoma Tax Commission v. Citizen Band Potawatomi Indian 

Tribe of Oklahoma, 498 U.S. 505, 510 (1991); citing United States v United States Fidelity

& Guarantee Co., 309 US 506, 511-512 (1940); McClendon v United States, 885 F. 2d 627,

630 (9th Cir. 1989). See also Chemehuevi Indian Tribe v. California State Bd. of 

Equalization,  757 F.2d 1047 (9th Cir. 1985)

In summary, the passage of time has rendered any retroactive relief for the 

Defendants moot and/or futile.  Going forward, vacating the judgment will have 

no practical effect because vacating the Court's order will not necessarily disturb 

the BIA Area  Director's decision.  

 c)  Five Years Is Unprecedented Delay. While there is no hard and fast rule 

as to how much time is reasonable for the filing of a Rule 60 motion, courts have 

found periods of as little as a few months unreasonable, and have found periods of 

as long as three years reasonable. Sudeikis v. Chicago Transit Auth., 774 F.2d 766, 769 

(7th Cir. 1985)15 However, Defendants have failed to cite any case in which a five 

15 Comparing Howard v Florida East Coast Ry. Co. 404 U.S. 897 (1971)( five months) and Pierre v Bernuth,
Lembcke Co. 20 FRD 116 (S.D. N.Y. 1956) 

Newtok v Patrick, et. al. Case 4:15-cv-00009 -RRB   Page 8 of 21
Plt. Op: Def. Motion To Set Aside Default

Case 4:15-cv-00009-RRB   Document 69   Filed 01/28/21   Page 8 of 21



year delay was found to be reasonable, and Tribe's have been unable to find any 

authority for the principle that a five year delay has been found reasonable.  As 

noted in  Sudeikis v. Chicago Transit Auth., there is little support for finding longer 

delays “reasonable”. Id.

 d) Prejudice to Tribe.   Revisiting the 2012 election dispute would prejudice 

the Tribe by undermining the recognition of the Tribal judgement confirming the 

2012 election dispute.  Federal common law recognizes the right of federally 

recognized tribes  to remain "a separate people, with the power of regulating their 

internal and social relations." United States v. Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313, 322  (1978) citing 

United States v. Kagama, 118 U.S. 375, 381-382 (1886) and Cherokee Nation v Georgia, 30

U.S. 16 (1831)16 In furtherance of that right, Congress has enacted the Indian Self-

Determination and Education Assistance Act of 1975 (Public Law 93-638) (“638”)17 

which gives Indian tribes the right to contract with the Departments of the Interior 

and Health and Human Services to operate programs, functions, services and 

activities provided by the these departments for the benefit of Indians because of 

their status as Indians. Id.18  The policy has been extended upon an incremental 

basis to federal programs outside of DOI and DHSS.19  It is self-evident that the 

tribes participating in Indian Self-Determination contracting with the federal 

16 See also, Wocester v Georgia, 31 U.S. 350 (1832) 
17 25 USCA § 5391 et. seq.
18 See generally, Geoffrey D. Strommer & Stephen D. Osborne, The History, Status, and Future of Tribal Self-

Governance Under the Indian Self- Determination and Education Assistance Act, 39 Am. Indian L. Rev. 1 
(2014) (available at https://digitalcommons.law.ou.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1001&context=ailr) 

19 Id. 
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agencies benefit from such laws and policies.  Equally there is little question that 

the stability of tribal governments and the stability of the relationship between 

tribal government and federal agencies is critical to the success of the federal Indian

Self-Determination Policy.20 

As set out in Tribe's complaint, Newtok Village ability to contract under '638 

is critical to funding relocation efforts.  Understanding the identity of Newtok

Village's legitimate governing body is critical to federal agencies providing such 

funding.   Since 2015, there has not been any serious question as to whom the 

federal agencies work with in Newtok, which is largely dependent upon the BIA's 

recognition of the current council.  

Voiding the current judgment prejudices Newtok Village since it removes 

the current legal prohibition preventing the Defendants from falsely claiming that 

they are the legitimate tribal government.  As noted above, such a claim is 

nonsensical, but it could disrupt the ongoing grant and contracting activities 

between Newtok Village and federal agencies under '638 and related statutes. 

 e) Interest in Finality of Judgments.  The interest in finality of the judgment 

in this case is largely a function of the same consideration respecting prejudice to 

20  See generally, Cornell and Kalt,  ALASKA NATIVE SELF-GOVERNMENT AND SERVICE 
DELIVERY: WHAT WORKS? (The Harvard Project on American Indian Economic Development, 2004)
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the Tribe.  As noted above, the Tribe has largely put the matters associated with this

matter behind it.  The Defendants lack any creditable basis to claim that they are 

legitimate tribal officials for the purposes of contracting under '638 or any other 

federal statute.  The Defendants have failed to present any argument as to why this 

judgment should be disturbed. The general policy favoring finality of judgements 

strongly militates in favor of denying the Defendant's request.

 f) The Practical Ability Of The Litigant To Learn Earlier Of The Grounds 

Relied Upon; Reason for the Delay and Ability of Defendants to Learn of 

Grounds Relied Upon Earlier .  The Defendants have not claimed that they did not 

know about the jurisdictional grounds asserted in their request for relief. They have

not expressed a reason for the five year delay in bringing this motion.   It would be 

futile for the Tribe to speculate regarding what, when, and where the Defendants 

knew or didn't know at the time the Court issued the judgement.  Equally, the Tribe

cannot reasonably speculate as to why the Defendant's brought this motion.  Absent

some explanation from the Defendants, the Court should presume that these factors

weigh against granting Defendant's motion. 

III. FEDERAL ENFORCEMENT OF THE TRIBAL JUDGEMENT OF THE 
2012 ELECTION DISPUTE  IS A FEDERAL QUESTION.  

Defendant's motion acknowledges, the Tribe pled Federal Question 

Jurisdiction (28 USC § 1331) and Indian Tribe Plaintiff (28 USC § 1362).  Under these
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statutes the District Court has jurisdiction over  matters “actions arising under the 

Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States.”  Defendants allege that the 

complaint filed in this matter do not fall within that category.  The Tribe disagrees. 

The Tribe sought orders requiring Defendants to “1) cease any representation

that they are the governing body of Newtok Village, or otherwise represent Newtok

Village, and 2) turn over all records and property of the Newtok Village, and 3) 

other relief as may be appropriate.”21  There is little question that if the Defendants 

are not the governing body of the tribe, they cannot represent that false fact to 

federal and state agencies.   Equally, the governing body of the tribe has control 

over the property of the tribe.22  It therefore follows that the case rests upon a 

determination as to whether if the Defendants are  the legitimate governing body of

the Tribe.   

Those issues were resolved by the Tribe's 2013 dispute resolution process 

which culminated in a tribal judgment confirming that the New Council was 

Newtok Village's legitimate tribal government.  As noted above, it is well 

documented that the  2012 dispute was resolved using an internal tribal dispute 

resolution mechanism; i.e. a judgment issued by a tribal general membership 

21 Id, citing Docket 1
22  It has long been held that Tribes have the power to control their property.  County of Oneida v Oneida 

Indian Nation, 470 U.S. 226 (1985) Indeed, the very notion of “property” means that the owner has "free 
use, enjoyment, and disposal of all his acquisitions, without any control or diminution, save only by the 
laws of the land.” 1 WILLIAM BLACKSTONE, COMMENTARIES ON THE LAWS OF ENGLAND 
138. Equally, “the governing body of an Indian Tribe, working closely with the Federal Government and 
under the authority of federal law,” is the entity with lawful authority over tribal property. New Mexico v. 
Mescalero Apache Tribe, 462 U.S. 324, 332 (1974).
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meeting.  In essence, the Tribe sought enforcement of that tribal judgment and a 

request for the federal Court to give full force and effect to the tribal dispute 

resolution process which confirmed the New Council as the legitimate governing 

body of the Tribe.  This request raises a federal question within this Court's 

jurisdiction under 28 USC §§ 1331 and 1362.  In Coeur d'Alene Tribe v. Hawks, 933 

F.3d 1052 (9th Cir. 2019) the Ninth Circuit held that  actions in federal court seeking 

to enforce a tribal judgment  raise a substantial question of federal law and such 

claims give rise to the Federal District Court's federal question jurisdiction. Id, at 

1053-1054  

It is anticipated that the Defendants might dispute that the tribe's action does

not amount to a “judgment.” As alleged in the complaint,23 and supported in the 

BIA Directors decision,24the tribal dispute resolution process –  proposed by the 

Defendant Stanley Tom – submitted the matter to a general tribal membership 

meeting, which voted upon the question as to which of the two competing groups 

should be confirmed as the Tribal Council.25 That process vested the judicial 

function with respect to the election in the Tribes general membership.  While that 

process differs in regards to judicial processes in state and federal legal systems, 

Indian tribes have the right to order their government as they wish and vest judicial

authority in bodies that differ from Western judicial traditions.  In Howlett v Salish 

23 Docket 1, at para 15 & 16
24 See Ex. 1, at §§ IX and X which contains a detailed description of the dispute resolution process which was

proposed by the Defendant Stanley Tom.  The process took the form of a general membership meeting 
supervised by the President of the Association of Village Council Presidents, Myron Naneng. 

25 Id. 
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and Kootenai Tribes, 529 F. 2d 233 (9th Cir., 1976)  the plaintiffs challenged the 

authority of the tribal council to judge whether candidates for elected office were 

qualified for council membership. The Ninth Circuit  recognized that process as a 

judicial process, stating

To lawyers, used to thinking of courts as the interpretative arm of
government, it does seem strange that a single legislative and executive arm
of government should be permitted to interpret the law, but we deal here not
with state law ... but with Indian law enacted by Indians. The Indians, except
as inhibited by the Indian Civil Rights Act, are free to structure their
government as they see fit. Nothing precludes the Indians from vesting, as
they did, the power of interpretation in a tribal council rather than in a tribal
court.

Id. at 240. Similarly, a Tribe may vest the tribal membership with judicial

authority to adjudicate competing election claims.  As a result, the decision of the

tribal membership is a judgment entitled to judicial recognition in the federal Court.

As stated in Howlett v Salish and Kootenai Tribes, a complaint seeking recognition and

enforcement of that Tribal judgment raises a federal question giving rise to

jurisdiction of the Court under 28 USC §§ 1331 and 1362. 

IV. THE MATTER IN CONTROVERSY AROSE UNDER THE LAWS OF THE
UNITED STATES – INDIAN SELF-DETERMINATION ACT.

The complaint, on its face, specifically references the Indian Self-

Determination Act (25 USC § 5391 et. seq.) ('638) twice.26  Additionally, the 

complaint contains references to the BIA administrative proceedings with regard to 

implementing the Indian Self-Determination Act.27   There is little question that the 

26 Docket 1, at para 8 & 14
27 Id, at para 18, 21, & 22.  Also see Exhibit 1-3

Newtok v Patrick, et. al. Case 4:15-cv-00009 -RRB   Page 14 of 21
Plt. Op: Def. Motion To Set Aside Default

Case 4:15-cv-00009-RRB   Document 69   Filed 01/28/21   Page 14 of 21



Indian Self-Determination Act is a federal law. At a minimum, the complaint seeks 

to prohibit the Defendants from representing themselves  as tribal officials with 

respect to implementation of the Indian Self-Determination Act- a federal law. 

There is little question that such claims relating to the Indian Self-Determination 

Act are claims that arise under federal law.  

As the Defendant's acknowledge, the federal government has a responsibility

to recognize and deal with the tribal governing body in furtherance of its trust 

responsibility.28  citing Goodface v. Grassrope, 708 F.2d 335, 339 (8th Cir. 1983) 

( holding that “[t]he BIA, in its responsibility for carrying on government to 

government relations with the tribe, is obligated to recognize and deal with some 

tribal governing body” and such actions present a federal question)  Goodface v. 

Grassrope recognize that legal issues associated with the Indian Self-Determination 

Act raise a federal question.  It is undisputed that this Court had federal subject 

matter jurisdiction to give full force and effect to the decisions of the Bureau of 

Indian Affairs “to carry out its statutory and regulatory obligations”with respect to 

the Indian Self-Determination Act.  Id., See also Wheeler v Dept. of Interior, 811 F.2d 

549, 552 (10th Cir., 1987)  

In this case, the Tribe had a dispute resolution process, which determined 

that the New Council was the legitimate tribal government for Newtok Village.  In 

exercising her statutory and regulatory obligations, the Area Director deferred to 

28 Docket 65, at 10
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that tribal dispute resolution process to recognize the New Council as the Tribe's 

legitimate government. Given the Defendants continued efforts to circumvent that 

decision, there is no question that this Court had jurisdiction to give full force and 

effect to the BIA's actions. 

The other cases cited Defendants  for the proposition that federal Courts lack 

jurisdiction to decide tribal election disputes are easily distinguishable.  Those cases

present situations where  a tribal remedy was available but no tribal forum had 

resolved the dispute, or where the parties were trying to overturn or circumvent a 

decision made in the Tribal forum.  That is not the case-at-bar, in that the Tribe had 

a dispute resolution process, used the process, and the BIA was giving full force 

and effect to that judgment. 

V. OWNERSHIP AND CONTROL OF PROPERTY AN RECORDS
ACQUIRED WITH FEDERAL FUNDS IS A FEDERAL QUESTION.

The Defendants acknowledge the authority of Goodface v. Grassrope, holding 

that the Indian Self-Determination Act give rise to federal subject matter 

jurisdiction. Rather, the Defendants complain that the Tribe inappropriately asked 

the Court to extend this limited determination to all matters.29  

The Tribe's request for the Defendants to turn over tribal records and property

raises federal law questions because the vast majority of tribal revenues are derived

29 Docket 65 at 10
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from federal grants and contacts, which impose records and property requirements

on the Tribe. The Indian Self-Determination affirmatively requires a Tribe receiving

'638 funds to maintain tribal program and funds records for audit and other

purposes. 25 U.S. Code § 5329(c)(1)(7)  Additionally, the Act affirmatively requires

that the Tribe maintain property records and maintain ownership of such property

in compliance with federal regulations. 25 U.S. Code § 5329(c)(1)(8). 

Similar requirements apply government-wide and apply to all federal grant and

contract awards 2 CFR §200 (Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost

Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards) (i.e. Part 200). 30

Specifically, Part 20031 requires that the Tribe retain the property acquired with the

funding until close out of the award,32 maintain a property inventory and update it

every two years,33 and insure the property.34  If such property is transferred without

federal agency approval, the federal agency has the right to recover the amount of

funding used to acquire the property.35  This includes situations where the Tribe is a

“sub-recipient” from another grant (e.g. a pass-through federal award from the

State).  

 As noted in Part 200 a federal agency retains an interest in the records and

30 The regulations promulgated by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and are authorized under a 
number of federal statutes which are listed at 2 CFR § 200.103  The complaint does not specifically plead 
federal statutes and regulations as a basis for jurisdiction.  However, “If facts giving the court jurisdiction 
are set forth in the complaint, the provision conferring jurisdiction need not be specifically pleaded.” 
Williams v. United States, 405 F.2d 951, 954 (9th Cir. 1969). 

31 See “Property Standards”  contained in 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.310 through § 200.316.
32 2 CFR § 200.311
33 Id. 
34 2 CFR § 200.310
35 2 CFR § 200.311
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property akin to a lien.  This retained federal interest necessarily gives rise to a

federal question arising under the laws of the United States.36 

The fact that some of these records may relate to grants/contracts that are

exclusively non-federal37 is irrelevant, since federal law also requires the Tribe to

maintain such records.  Specifically, the federal Single Audit Act of 198438  requires

that every Indian tribe receiving federal assistance over a specified amount perform

a single audit of all funds, including non-federally assisted tribal operations. 31

USC § 7502(d)(1) The statute requires compliance with Office of Management and

Budget (OMB) circulars and regulations, including OMB Cir.A-128 (Audits Of State,

Local, And Indian Tribal Governments).  Of course, such audits require the tribal

records, including records of non-federally assisted programs.  

More importantly, however, interpretation of the federal regulations are

necessary and determinative as to the ownership of the property and records at

issue.  Given that the property at issue was purchased with federal funds (including

Indian Self-Determination Act funding) the Defendant's retention must rest upon

some transfer of ownership or control from the Tribe to the Defendants.  While the

Defendant's may contend that the Tribe somehow transferred the property at issue

36 The conversion of tribal property acquired under the terms of he Indian Self-Determination Act is
a violation of federal law.  25 U.S.C. § 5306  Equally, the willful conversion of any tribal property 
is a violation of federal law.  18 U.S.C. § 1163  

37 Frankly, the Tribe is unaware of any tribal programs which did not receive federal assistance, since nearly 
all funding provided by the State  to Newtok Village is either pass-through federal funding or matched with
federal funds – most often Self-Determination Act funds. The Defendants – which include the former 
Tribal Administrator – have not identified any exclusively non-federally assisted Tribal programs.

38 31 USC 7501, et. seq. (P.L 98-502 as amended) 
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(which would be disputed), as noted above, such transfer is clearly not permitted

unless the federal funding agency has approved the transfer.  No such approval

exists. As the Court in Grable & Sons Metal Products, Inc. v. Darue Engineering &

Manufacturing, 545 U.S. 308 (2005) held, where the meaning of a federal law is an

essential element in determining ownership of property, a federal question arises.

 Id. at 315

VI. STATE ANCILLARY CLAIMS.   

As discussed above, all the Tribe's claims arise under federal law – i.e. 

enforcement of a Tribal judgement (per Coeur d'Alene Tribe v. Hawks); the Indian 

Self-Determination Act,  and 2 CFR Part 200.  While the Defendant's admit the 

nexus with the Self-Determination Act, they suggest, without supporting authority, 

that other claims do not “extend this limited determination to all matters.”39   This is 

clearly incorrect.  

For the sake of argument it is possible that some of the Tribe's claims may 

arise under state law.40  However,  a federal court properly exercising federal 

question jurisdiction over a matter may decide all questions presented,  including 

supplemental state law issues, whether or not each has a federal component.   28 

39 Docket 65 at 10
40 Frankly, the only aspect of the Tribe's claims that might arise under State law relate to the allegations that 

the Defendants have converted tribal property acquired with State or self-generated funds.   However, even 
in this regard, legal possession of the Tribe's retained  records respecting State funded programs raises a 
federal issue because of the Single Audit Act, and implementing regulations.  See §V, supra. 
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USC § 1367

CONCLUSION.

The Court should deny the Defendant's motion because Defendants motion 

is untimely given that it is an unprecedented five years after entry of judgement 

mooting any retroactive or prospective relief.   Additionally, this Court had federal 

question jurisdiction to enter the judgment because the Tribe's complaint raises 

significant  and dispositive legal issues under federal laws, including  1) the 

recognition and enforcement of a tribal judgment resolving the 2012 tribal election, 

2) the Indian Self-Determination Act, 3) the Single Audit Act, and 4) 2 CFR Part 200.

Respectfully submitted this 28th   day of January, 2021

/s/ Michael J. Walleri 

Michael J. Walleri (ABA #7906060)
GAZEWOOD & WEINER, PC
1008 16th Ave., Suite 200
Fairbanks, AK 99701
tel: (907) 452-5196
fax: (907) 456-7058
walleri@gci.net
Attorney for Tribe
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